COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2013 FEB 11 AM 9: 07

No. 43568-3-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPUTY
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff-Appellee, v.

MARK BESOLA, Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable RONALD CULPEPPER, VICKI HOGAN and EDMUND MURPHY, Judges

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Suzanne Lee Elliott

Attorney for Appellant 1300 Hoge Building 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-0291

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Because the State did not instruct the jury that RCW 9.68A.070 and RCW 9.68A.050 required that the State prove that Besola knew that the persons depicted were minors, and because the State presented no evidence on that element, Besola's convictions are unconstitutional.
- 2. The trial court erred in finding that the search warrant addendum in this case described the items to be seized with sufficient particularity because it referenced the statute that criminalizes the possession of child pornography. Reason for Admission III, CP 30.
- 3. The trial court erred in finding that Kellie Westfall was a citizen informant. Finding of Fact 4, CP 12.
- 4. The trial court erred in finding that Kellie Westfall gathered her information in a reliable way and from a reliable source. Finding of Fact 5, CP 13.
- 5. The trial court erred in failing to find that police intentionally or recklessly omitted facts from the search warrant affidavit. Finding of Fact 6, CP 13.
- 6. The trial court erred in finding that the omitted statements were not material or necessary to a finding of probable cause. Finding of Fact 7, CP 14.

- 7. The trial judge impermissibly commented on the evidence when he stated on the record that Besola's witness was failing to answer the prosecutor's questions and that he found her "frustrating."
- 8. There was insufficient evidence for the jury to find Besola guilty of possessing child pornography.
- 9. There was insufficient evidence for the jury to find Besola guilty of dealing in child pornography.
- 10. Count 1 and 2 encompass the same criminal conduct.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Because RCW 9.68A.070 and RCW 9.68A.050 require the State to prove that Besola knew that the persons depicted were minors, is Besola's conviction unconstitutional because the instructions omitted this element and because the State failed to produce any evidence of this element?
- 2. Did the trial court err in failing to find that the search of Besola's residence violated the Fourth Amendment because the second warrant, obtained from a different judge pursuant to an "addendum", failed to describe with particularity items for which probable cause existed to search or seize and instead authorized the search and seizure of every videotape, CD, DVD and audio and video media in the house and every

computer hard drive or laptop computer and any memory storage device in the home and all printed pornography?

- 2. Did the trial court err when it permitted the police to search Besola's residence based upon an uncorroborated tip from a known criminal?
- 3. Did the trial court err in failing to find that the omissions about Westfall from the search warrant affidavit were intentional or reckless and material?
- 4. Did the trial judge err when he commented to the jury that Besola's witness was not answering the State's questions and agreed that the witness was "frustrating?"
- 5. Was there sufficient proof to demonstrate that Besola had actual or constructive possession of the child pornography?
- 6. Was there sufficient proof to demonstrate that Besola duplicated any child pornography?
- 7. Was there sufficient proof that Besola was Swenson's accomplice in these crimes?
- 8. Are possession and duplication of child pornography the "same criminal conduct?"

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. THE CHARGES

Dr. Mark L. Besola was charged with dealing in the depictions of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct, in violation of RCW 9.68A.050(1) and possession of depictions of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct, in violation of RCW 9.68A.070. CP 33-34.

The charges were based upon evidence seized pursuant to two different warrants signed on April 21, 2009, for the search and seizure of Besola's home in Lake Tapps.

B. THE FIRST SEARCH WARRANT SIGNED AT 5:05 P.M.¹

On January 20, 2009, the Pierce County prosecutor's office charged Kellie Westfall with possession of a stolen vehicle, possession of methamphetamine, possession of another's identification, third degree driving while license suspended, and obstructing law enforcement. She petitioned for and obtained referral to Drug Court, stipulating to the charged crimes and the underlying facts in the statement of probable cause. She failed to show up for a drug court review hearing on February 25, 2009, and the court issued a warrant for her arrest. On March 26, the

4

¹ CP 310.

police took her back into custody, and the court ordered her to be held without bail pending trial.

While in custody on April 19, 2009, Westfall gave a tape-recorded statement to PCSO Det. Sgt. Teresa Berg, Bonney Lake PD Det. Boyle, and PCSO Det. Vance Tjossem.² In that interview, Westfall gave information about Dr. Mark Besola and his live-in boyfriend, Jeffrey Swenson. CP 251. She was good friends with Swenson but described him as "way gone" in his methamphetamine addiction. CP 256. She said that Swenson lived with Besola because "he had to do what he had to do to get by in life." CP 249. She said that Besola "just makes me sick." *Id.* She also said Besola did not like her, and she was no longer allowed in his house. She told the police that Swenson would take anything that was not nailed down and "hock it." CP 276.

During that interview, Westfall claimed that she had seen child pornography at Besola's home in October, 2008. She alleged that the CDs/DVDs and computers, which she believed contained child pornography, were still present in the home on March 25, 2009.

In her statement, Westfall claimed that she had both bought and sold drugs to and from Besola. She told law enforcement that Besola was

 $^{^2}$ The tape suggests that the statement was taken before or during one of Westfall's court appearances. CP 253.

a veterinarian, and that she had seen Vicodin, liquid morphine, and other prescription drugs at Besola's home. She reported seeing syringes, but told law enforcement that Besola is a diabetic. She also stated that the drugs she had seen in the house were actually pharmaceuticals from Besola's veterinary clinic, although she never actually read the labels of the drugs she saw. She also stated that the Valium she saw in the house was for Besola's dog which had cancer.

Westfall said that Besola was very overweight and because of that he "can't make it up and down the stairs." CP 261. Thus, Swenson used the upstairs room "a lot." *Id.*

Westfall offered to continue cooperating with the officers and said she was willing to testify about these matters. In fact, she said that "there were so many things over the months . . . But I'm trying to make sure I don't forget any major ones. But I'm sure I'll think of more." CP 291. She described how she made people comfortable enough to confess to her. CP 295. She clearly offered to do more work for the police stating: "I'm sure there are tons more things I can tell you . . ." CP 294. During her statement, Westfall described herself as a "master manipulator."

Several days after the police had taken her statement, the Pierce County Superior Court issued an order releasing her from custody and ordering her to report back to drug court. On April 21, 2009, the police applied for a search warrant for evidence of the crimes of Unlawful Possession of Child Pornography, RCW 9.68A.070, and of Unlawful Possession of Controlled Substance, RCW 69.50.401. In their affidavit for search warrant, the police failed to include the following facts from Westfall's statement:

- Westfall had been charged in a five-count information for possession of a stolen vehicle, methamphetamines, and another's identification, driving on a suspended license, and obstructing law enforcement:
- Westfall had entered a drug court petition, and that she stipulated that there were facts sufficient to find her guilty of the charged offenses:
- Westfall had failed to appear for drug court and a warrant had been issued for her arrest;
- Westfall had been booked into Pierce County jail and a nobail hold had been ordered on March 26, 2009;
- Westfall was incarcerated at the time she gave her April 9 statement to law enforcement;
- Westfall was released from jail on her own recognizance and ordered back to drug court;

- Westfall perceived Besola to be jealous of her friendship with Swenson and was no longer welcome in the house;
- The drugs Westfall saw in the house were actually pharmaceuticals from Besola's veterinary clinic and she never actually saw the labels of the drugs she claimed Besola was taking; and
 - The Valium was for Besola's ailing dog.

Given the partial information provided in the search warrant affidavit, Pierce County Superior Court Judge John McCarthy found sufficient evidence to search the Lake Tapps residence for drugs.

However, he found that there was insufficient evidence to believe the home contained child pornography because he deleted those provisions from the warrant. The final warrant stated as follows:

That, on or about March 25, 2009 in Pierce County, Washington, a felony, to-wit: R.C.W. 9.68A.070 Possession of Child Pornography and R.C.W. 69.50.401 Unlawful Possession of Controlled Substances was committed by the act, procurement or omission of another, that the following evidence, to-wit:

- 1. Photographs of the exterior and interior of the home, garage, any other structures, and any evidence found;
- 2. Any and all-video tapes, CDs, DVDs, or any other visual and/or audio recordings,
- 3. Any and all printed pornographic materials;
- 4. Any photographs, but particularly of minors;

- 5. Any and all computer hard drives or laptop computers and any memory storage devices;
- 6. Any and all documents demonstrating purchase, sale, or transfer of pornographic material;
- 7. Any controlled substances manufactured, distributed, dispensed, acquired or possessed;
- 8. Equipment, products, and materials of any kind which are used, or intended for use, in the manufacturing, compounding, processing, delivering, or packaging of controlled substances;
- 9. Books, records, receipts, notes, ledgers, or other documents relating to the possession, purchasing, selling, or delivery of controlled substances;
- 10. Medical records, receipts, prescriptions, licenses, and/or documents pertaining to any medical condition concerning the use, possession, manufacture, distribution, or sale of controlled substances; and
- 11. Documents demonstrating dominion and control is material to the investigation or prosecution of the above described felony for the following reasons:
- 1. To completely document the condition of the residence, property, and evidence;
- 2. To obtain any and all visual and/or audio recordings of the above crimes;
- 3. To obtain any and all printed pornographic material that may be related to the above crimes;
- 4. To obtain any photographs of possible minor victims and to aid in any victim identification;
- 5. To obtain any computers, computer equipment, or memory storage devices used to facilitate the above crimes;

- 6. To obtain any documents verifying any purchase, sale, or transfer of pornographic materials;
- 7. To obtain any controlled substances;
- 8. To obtain any related equipment or materials used in the above described crimes;
- 9. To obtain any documents or records relating to the above described crimes;
- 10. To obtain any medical records, licenses, and similar documentation to demonstrate any legal possession of controlled substances;
- 11. To demonstrate who has possession and control of the home and any evidence found; and
- 12. To obtain evidence of the above described crimes CP 307 (strikethroughs in original).

Officer Kevin Johnson arrived at the house with 6 or 7 deputies along with "patrol people" at 6:45 p.m. RP 362, 374. He testified that the house was very cluttered. RP 524. *See also* Exhibits 72, 121, 130-131, 134, 135-136, 138-142. He stated that during this entry he observed DVDs and CDs primarily in the upstairs master bedroom. RP 525, 364-365. He seized many of them. RP 365-382.

On April 23, 2009, Johnson went back to seize "some handwriting examples." RP 392.

He was asked when he started searching for child pornography.

RP 534. He said that before Detective Reigle arrived with the addendum,"

we were walking around looking at stuff, but at that time our search was focused on something else, so I did not start looking at any of the disks until after that.

RP 534. He allowed, however, that he was not watching everyone else and that:

I think some things were probably being photographed. I don't know if anybody was marking anything at that point. RP 534.

Michael Heffy arrived at 6:40 p.m. RP 565. He too seized DVDs and CDs. RP 569-70. He left the residence at 11:45 p.m. RP 578. He did not read the search warrant but rather relied on a "briefing." RP 580. He understood, however, that he was not allowed to search for pornography until after 10:00 p.m. Nonetheless, his search and seizure of CD's and DVDs began well before that time. RP 582.

Deputy Bryon Brockway arrived at 6:40 p.m. RP 596. He entered the front room and immediately seized DVDs and CDs. RP 598.

Deputy Mark Collier also arrived just after 6:30 p.m. and appears to have started seizing CDs immediately. RP 654.

C. THE SEARCH WARRANT "ADDENDUM" SIGNED AT 10:17 P.M.³

Detective Reigle was part of the police sex crimes unit. She arrived at 8:00 p.m. because she received word that one or more of the police at the residence had seen DVDs with titles they deemed suspicious. RP 625. Shortly after she got there, Swenson gave a statement to the police indicating that there was child pornography in the house. RP 627. He said that he had viewed the items. RP 550.

Detective Reigle wrote an affidavit in support of a broader search warrant. RP 630-33. She drove about one hour to another judge's house to get an addendum to the initial search warrant signed. RP 636. In the affidavit for the addendum she stated that the police had a search warrant to search for evidence of the crime of Unlawful Possession of Controlled Substance. CP 314. But, during the search of the master bedroom, Detective Hefty located CD/DVD cases in a cardboard box next to the entertainment center. Inside the CD/DVD cases there were numerous writeable CDs or DVDs with handwritten titles which appeared to be "pornographic." *Id.* She also stated that Swenson told the officers that there was child pornography in the house. *Id.*

³ CP 313.

As a result, Judge Larkin signed an "addendum" to the first warrant. The addendum stated that there was probable cause to believe the crime of "Possession of Child Pornography, RCW 9.68A.070" was being committed. CP 322. And it gave the police permission to seize:

- 1. Any and all video tapes, CDs, DVDs, or any other visual and or audio recordings:
- 2. Any and all printed pornographic materials.
- 3. Any photographs, but particularly of minors
- 4. Any and all computer hard drives or laptop computers and any memory storage devices;
- 5. Any and all documents demonstrating purchase, sale or transfer of pornographic material.

CP 312.

During the trial, the prosecutor complained about the defense asking officers what they were searching for and at what time. RP 584. She said that in the original warrant "Judge Murphy" had authorized the police to "look at media storage devices and computers and all that stuff." *Id.*

Defense counsel noted that the search was completed at 11:30 p.m. RP 586. He stated that he did not believe that the officers could have seized the multitude of evidence regarding the child pornography charge in just one hour. Defense counsel pointed out that even if there were some justification for opening CD cases to look for bindles of drugs, many of

the CDs seized were on spindles. RP 591. He stated that the officers had been every imprecise and "we haven't been able to litigate any of this because Judge Hogan took no oral argument on the 3.6 motion." RP 588. Judge Culpepper said: "I'm not sure there is anything I can do about Judge Hogan's ruling." RP 588.

D. THE TRIAL

There was no dispute that of the thousands of items seized from the Lake Tapps residence, 41 contained child pornography. RP 832. The majority were found in the room where Swenson was living. A good deal of the State's case was devoted to the foundation for and introduction of the various items seized from the Lake Tapps residence.

The State also presented the testimony of John Crawford, a forensic computer examiner. RP 759. The police found three computers at the residence but only one was hooked up and running. RP 762. There was a CD burner hooked up to the working computer. RP 766. There were four child pornography video clips on that computer. RP 773-774.

The State also presented evidence that Besola's handwriting was on only one CD.

Brent Waller testified that he rented an apartment on the Lake Tapps property for about six years. RP 849, 860. He was living on the property during the charging period. RP 860. He said that he knew

Swenson and traded pornography with him once a week. RP 850. He said that Swenson brought lots of other people to the property, some of whom were drug addicts. RP 853, 854. When Besola knew of these people, he kicked them off the property. RP 855. Even though Besola changed the locks on the doors and the security codes Swenson could still manage to get into the house. He also said that Besola was "never around." RP 874.

Randall Karstetter, a forensic computer analyst, testified that he examined the computer hard drive that contained the child pornography videos. He found no evidence that the dates or times that the video were placed on the computer had been manipulated. RP 906-908. All four of the video files had been copied onto the computer on September 26-27, 2008. RP 913. The files were not downloaded but rather transferred from CDs to the computer. Based upon his analysis the computer user had been using the keyboard on the computer continually from the night of the 26th to the early afternoon of the 27th – about 16 hours. RP 924, 927. None of the child pornography files had been accessed again after that date. RP 930-31. In addition, although the files were downloaded, they were not viewed at that time. RP 933-34.

Amelia Besola, Dr. Besola's sister testified that on September 26, 2008, Besola was with her at work at their veterinary clinic. RP 1024. In the evening they went with their mother to a movie. RP 1027. Besola

then spent the night at his sister's house. RP 1028. On the 27th, they went to work in the morning and then took their mother to Lopez Island where they all stayed until the next day. RP 1030-31. She produced Exhibit 208, a record of Besola's transactions at the clinic on September 28, 2008. RP 1050-51.

Amelia knew Swenson because he had lived with Besola on and off for ten years or more. RP 1046-47. He had also worked at the clinic. RP 1031. During that time she saw him copying Besola's handwriting. RP 1032. She stated that he was practicing how to forge Besola's signature. RP 1045. She stated that her brother often fell prey to other people. RP 1054.

She saw Swenson within hours of the search. He was distraught and told her that the child pornography belonged to him. RP 1033-34.

During Amelia Besola's testimony, the prosecutor repeatedly asked if she could tell from certain credit card receipts whether she or her brother performed the services. Amelia said that she could identify her clients from the names on the receipts. RP 1059. Apparently the prosecutor did not understand the answer because the following exchange occurred:

Ms. Seivers: Your honor, I would ask you to direct the witness to answer the question.

The Court: I don't know how to do that, Ms. Seivers. They're very simple questions. Ms. Besola seems to be having trouble answering these simple questions. Listen to the questions. What's the next question Ms. Seivers?

Ms. Seivers: That's fine; I'll move on.

The Court: I do understand your frustration, Ms. Seivers. RP 1059.

Besola testified that he did not download or view any of the child pornography in his home. In 2008, his mother was very ill and he was helping to take care of her. RP 1073-74. In addition, in the spring of 2008, the Lake Tapps house was virtually uninhabitable because of an extensive remodeling project. RP 1076. Thus, Besola moved in with his sister. RP 1077, 1080.

He explained that he was usually at his clinic between 8:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. RP 1082. On September 28, 2008, he and his mother and sister were on Lopez Island. RP 1084.

According to Besola, Swenson stayed in the second floor master bedroom. RP 1086. Besola slept on the couch downstairs. RP 1086. Swenson was undeterred by Besola's efforts to keep Swenson and his friends off the property. RP 1088. Swenson brought strangers around when Besola was not there. RP 1089.

Swenson had access to all of the house, including the computers.

RP 1091. There was 4,200 square feet of living space. RP 1121. Besola

had no idea that there was child pornography on the computer in the living room or in his home. RP 1092-94. He also testified that the computer found in the living room in April 2009 had just been moved downstairs. RP 1108. He said that he was unaware that there was a CD copier attached to the computer. RP 1113.

E. CLOSING ARGUMENTS

In closing, the prosecutor argued that Besola was guilty either as an accomplice or on a theory of constructive possession. She said:

Mark Besola provided the home where this occurred, the computer and the Internet access. He paid the bills, so he provided all those accesses. There was also a duplicator that was attached to the computer and the files that were copied.

RP 1149. She argued that by owning the home in which the pornography was found, Besola had "possession" of it:

These things, all the contraband that was seized, all the child pornography that was seized, was found in the home that was owned by Mark Besola, where Jeffrey Swenson lived and had lived for several years, so both of them had the ability to take possession of the items in the house, to exclude others and they had dominion and control over those premises. They were living there. They could move things as they wanted, take things from the house. Both of them had the ability to possess the items that were in the house.

RP 1155. She repeated this argument at RP 1166.

As to accomplice liability, she stated:

Both of them could have done this.... So the defendants could have worked together as accomplices to make this happen. I could have been one of them. It could have been both of them. But it's a computer in the house where they both live.

CP 1150.

She also argued:

Amelia Besola, first she couldn't give us straight answers. She didn't want to.

RP 1168.

The jury convicted Besola of both counts. CP 1168.

F. SENTENCING

At sentencing, Besola's criminal history was 3 and his standard range was 31 to 41 months in prison. 6/8/12 RP 4. The court imposed a sentence of 35 months in prison. 6/8/12 RP 20.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. BECAUSE THE STATE DID NOT INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT RCW 9.68A.070 AND RCW 9.68.050 REQUIRE THAT BESOLA KNEW THAT THE PERSONS DEPICTED WERE MINORS, HIS CONVICTION IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

In 1999, the Court of Appeals held that Washington's statutory scheme prohibiting possession of child pornography does not require as an element of the crime that a defendant know the age of the persons depicted in the material he is charged with possessing. *State v. Rosul*, 95 Wn. App.

175, 177, 974 P.2d 916, 918, review denied, 139 Wn.2d 1006, 989 P.2d 1142 (1999). In *Rosul*, the court held as follows:

[W]e construe RCW 9.68A.070 as requiring a showing that the defendant was aware not only of possession, but also of the general nature of the material he or she possessed. It is not constitutionally necessary that the State prove a defendant's specific knowledge of the child's age.

But the *Rosul* decision was incorrect.

The government may not impose criminal penalties upon an individual for expression that is protected by the constitution. *Ashcroft v. Free Speech Coalition*, 535 U.S. 234, 244, 122 S.Ct. 1389, 152 L.Ed.2d 403 (2002); U.S. Const. amend. I; Wash. Const. Art. I, § 5.2. Content-based restrictions on speech must satisfy the court's strict scrutiny, requiring the government have a compelling state interest in regulating the speech and use the least restrictive means available to achieve its objective. *Sable Communications, Inc. v. FCC*, 492 U.S. 115, 126, 109 S.Ct. 2829, 106 L.Ed.2d 93 (1989). Protected speech does not become unprotected merely because it resembles the latter. *Free Speech*, 535 U.S. at 255.

Sexual expression that is indecent but not obscene is protected by the First Amendment. *Sable Communications*, 492 U.S. at 126. In *New York v. Ferber*, 458 U.S. 747, 102 S.Ct. 3348, 73 L.Ed.2d 1113 (1982), the Supreme Court ruled for the first time that the First Amendment does not

where the images do not meet the legal standard for obscenity. The *Ferber* Court based its decision upon the harmful sexual abuse that occurs to the actual children used to make the pornography. *Id.* at 756-58. However, the *Ferber* Court carefully delineated the breadth of its holding, ruling that "Where the speech is neither obscene nor the product of sexual abuse, it does not fall outside the protection of the First Amendment." *Free Speech*, 535 U.S. at 251 (citing *Ferber*, at 764-65).

In 1996, Congress tried to expand the reach of child pornography laws by criminalizing the possession or production of an image that "is, or appears to be, of a minor" *Free Speech*, 535 U.S. at 241. The government urged the Supreme Court to uphold the constitutionality of this law by claiming that pornography that appeared to contain a minor encouraged child pornography and could lead to sexual abuse of actual minors. *Id*.

The Supreme Court rejected the government's rationale for criminalizing pornography that only appears to contain a minor. *Id.* at 251. The Court ruled that the possibility of harm to minors from the sexual images of people who merely appear to be minors was too tenuous and indirect to be permitted under the rigorous rules applied when the government suppresses speech. *Id.* at 250-54.

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