**NO. 43568-3-II (Consolidated)**

---

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

MARK BESOLA

and

JEFFREY SWENSON

---

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County  
The Honorable Judge Ronald Culpepper

No. 09-1-03223-0 (Besola)  
10-1-02315-3 (Swenson)

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

MARK LINDQUIST  
Prosecuting Attorney

By  
STEPHEN TRINEN  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
WSB # 30925

930 Tacoma Avenue South  
Room 946  
Tacoma, WA 98402  
PH: (253) 798-7400

**

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

1. Procedure

On July 7, 2009, the State charged Besola with: Count I, dealing in depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct; Count II possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct. CPMB 1-2. The incidents were alleged to have occurred on September 27, 2008 and April 21st, 2009, respectively. CPMB 1-2. Besola was summonsed and arraigned on July 21, 2009. See CPMB 521, 522-23.

On May 28, 2010, the State filed an information charging Jeffrey Swenson with the same two counts. CPJS 125-26.

On April 6, 2010 Besola filed a motion to suppress evidence. CPMB 205-335. The State filed a response on August 12, 2010. CPMB 336-354. Swenson never filed a separate motion to suppress, but did join in Besola's motion. CPJS 130. The motion was heard on October 19, 2010, and the court issued a written decision denying the motion on October 25, 2010. CPMB 3-6; 7-15; 16-26. CPJS 205-08, 209-19.

On April 28, 2011 Besola filed a second motion to suppress evidence. CPMB 370-448. Swenson did not file a separate motion, and

the State could find no record that Swenson expressly joined in Besola's motion, however, presumably Swenson's prior joining in Besola's motion remained in effect. The State filed a response on June 7, 2011. CPMB 451-502. The court heard the motion on February 2, 2012, and on March 1, 2012 entered findings and conclusions denying the motion. CPMB 27-32. CPJS 142-147

On April 6, 2012 the case was assigned to the honorable Ronald Culpepper for trial. CPMB 524. CPJS 220. On April 9, 2012 the State filed an Amended Information as to each defendant that expanded the charging period in count I from on or about September 27, 2008 to the period September 27th, 2008 through April 21, 2009. CPMB 33-34. CPJS 33-34. A jury was empaneled on April 10. CPMB 541-68. CPJS 239-66.

On April 20, 2013, the jury returned verdicts, finding Besola guilty as to both counts, and finding Swenson guilty as to both counts. CPMB 77, 78; CPJS 157, 158.

On June 8, 2012, the court sentenced Besola to 35 months on Count I, and 30 months on Count II.<sup>1</sup> The court sentenced Swenson to 60 months on Count I, and 72 months on Count II, for a total of 72 months. CPJS 175-194. Besola timely filed a notice of appeal the same day. CP

105. Swenson timely filed a notice of appeal on June 11, 2012. CPJS  
200.

2. Facts

a. Pertinent Facts at First Suppression Hearing

The following are taken from the findings of fact and conclusions  
of law entered after the first suppression hearing. *See* CPMB 7-15.

THE UNDISPUTED FACTS

1. The court heard live testimony from Detective Mike Hefty. Based on the testimony of this witness and exhibits admitted during the hearing, the following facts are not materially disputed.

2. On or about January 20, 2009, Kellie Westfall was charged in Pierce County Superior Court with Possession of a Stolen Vehicle, Possession of Methamphetamine, Possession of Another's Identification, DWLS 3, and Obstructing Law Enforcement.

3. On or about February 5, 2009, Westfall entered into a Drug Court Petition, Waiver and Agreement, which provided, among other things, that "upon successful completion of the treatment program, the Court will dismiss the charge with prejudice and the Prosecuting Attorney may not prosecute it in the future."

4. On or about March 25, 2009, Bonney Lake PD Detective Boyle contacted PCSD Deputy Tjossem regarding Ms. Westfall. Officer Boyle was investigating Westfall for her involvement with a stolen vehicle. Westfall told Officer Boyle and Deputy Tjossem that her friend, defendant Jeffrey Swenson, was obtaining drugs from his roommate, defendant Mark Besola. She reported that Besola worked as a veterinarian and was known to use,

---

<sup>1</sup> The total period of confinement does not appear to have been entered on the judgment and sentence.

sell, and distribute controlled substances, pharmaceuticals and methamphetamine. Besola was known to give pharmaceuticals to Swenson to trade or sell for methamphetamine. Westfall, a methamphetamine user, bought methamphetamine from and sold it to both Swenson and Besola.

5. On or about April 9, 2009, Westfall agreed to provide a tape-recorded statement to police. Westfall told Officer Boyle, Deputy Tjossem, and PCSD Detective Sergeant Berg that her decision to speak with them had nothing to do with her current charges. Westfall asked to speak with police regarding her information. Police did not make any promises to Westfall or threaten her in any way. Westfall was not paid for her information. Westfall spoke with police freely and voluntarily.

6. During the interview, Westfall discussed her relationship with defendants Swenson and Besola. Westfall and Swenson were good friends. Westfall reported that Swenson and Besola had a sexual relationship, which began when Swenson was approximately fourteen years old. Swenson stayed home and kept the house in exchange for Besola giving him drugs or money. Besola had a lot of money and invested well. Besola did not really like Westfall, but he allowed her into the residence because of her friendship with Swenson and because of the controlled substances. Westfall had stayed overnight in the residence several times.

7. Westfall also reported that she observed child pornography and controlled substances in Besola's home. Regarding the controlled substances, she observed Vicodan, liquid morphine, and other prescription type medications in prescription bottles, samples, and IV bags throughout the home. Westfall believed that Besola kept the drugs out in the open because there were no young children around and he was careful about who came into the home. At one time, Westfall observed Besola slumped over with a syringe and believed that he may be shooting drugs. During the interview, Westfall reported that she was last in Besola's home on March 25, 2009.

8. On April 21, 2009, Westfall contacted Deputy Tjossem and reported that Swenson had obtained



morphine from Besola. Swenson asked Westfall if she wanted to buy the morphine, which was at his residence.

9. Based on Westfall's statements, police sought to obtain a warrant to search defendants' residence. The affidavit in support of the search warrant identified Westfall by name, stated that she was willing to testify, and relayed the information Westfall provided to police on March 25, 2009, April 9, 2009, and April 21, 2009.

10. On April 21, 2009, at approximately 1700 hours, Det. Sgt. Berg and Deputy Tjossem requested and received a warrant to search the residence for controlled substances and other evidence regarding its use, possession, manufacture, distribution, or sale. The original request for the warrant included searching for evidence related to possession of child pornography. The issuing judge determined that probable cause to search for child pornography did not exist at that time. Police were not authorized to search for videotapes, CDs or DVDs.

11. On April 21, 2009, at approximately 1840 hours, police served the search warrant on defendants' residence located at 5314 218th Avenue East in Bonney Lake, WA.

12. According to Detective Hefty, during the search of the master bedroom, Detective Hefty located a CD/DVD case. Detective Hefty opened the CD/DVD case and observed numerous writeable CDs or DVDs with handwritten titles but could not remember during the hearing what those titles were.

13. On April 21, 2009, at approximately 2212 hours, police sought and obtained an addendum to the search warrant, which authorized police to search for and seize evidence of child pornography, including "any and all video tapes, CDs, DVDs, or any other visual and or audio recordings."

14. According to the April 21, 2009, affidavit for the addendum to the search warrant, the handwritten titles of the CD's and DVD's found by Det. Hefty included "Czech Boy Swap," "Beginner," and Young Gay Euro." He also located a VHS tape labeled "Berlin Men Holland Men (Boys) Location," as well as other writeable CDs or DVDs with seemingly pornographic titles.

15. Det. Hefty testified that no items, including CD's and DVD's were seized or removed from the premises until after the addendum to the search warrant authorizing the search and seizure of pornographic materials, was obtained by Det. Reigle.

16. Law enforcement made no attempt to corroborate the tips provided by either Westfall or Swenson

#### THE DISPUTED FACTS

1. During the initial search of defendants' residence, did Detective Hefty search the CD/DVD case for controlled substances or for CDs/DVDs?

#### FINDINGS AS TO DISPUTED FACTS

1. The court finds that Detective Hefty is an experienced and well trained law enforcement officer. The court finds that Officer Hefty's testimony during this hearing was honest, credible, and reasonable.

2. The court finds that when he was searching the bedroom in the defendant's home, Detective Hefty was searching the CD/DVD case for controlled substances, not for CDs/DVDs.

3. The court also finds that once Det. Hefty had opened the case the handwritten titles of the CD's and DVD's found by Det. Hefty were in plain view.

#### CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The court finds that the informant meets both the basis of knowledge and the reliability prongs of the *Aguilar-Spinelli* test.

2. The court finds that there was sufficient information set forth in the affidavit in support of the search warrant that would allow Judge McCarthy to conclude that the informant had a basis for her knowledge, and that the information she provided would lead a reasonable person to believe that the defendant was engaged in criminal activity and that evidence of that activity could be found at the residence.

3. Regarding the basis of knowledge prong, the court finds the following:

a. The affidavit in support of the search warrant outlined that Ms. Westfall told police in a March 25, 2009 interview that her friend, defendant Jeffrey Swenson, was obtaining drugs from his roommate, defendant Mark Besola. Westfall said Besola was known to use, sell, and distribute controlled substances, pharmaceuticals and methamphetamine. Westfall said that Besola was known to give pharmaceuticals to Swenson to trade or sell for methamphetamine, and that Westfall is a methamphetamine user who both sold to and bought from Swenson and Besola.

b. The search warrant affidavit also detailed an April 9, 2009 interview in which Westfall told police that she was good friends with Swenson, and that it was Swenson's job to stay home and keep the house he shared with Besola. She said that, in exchange, Besola gave Swenson money or drugs. Westfall said that Besola did not really like her but that she was allowed into the home because of Swenson and the controlled substances. She said she had stayed at the house overnight several times. She said the last time she had been in the home prior to the interview was March 25, 2009.

c. Westfall told police that Besola had Vicodan, liquid morphine, and other prescription type medications in prescription bottles, samples and IV bags throughout the home. She also said she believed Besola may be shooting drugs because at one time she found him slumped over with a syringe. She said she believed the drugs were not put away or hidden because there were no young children and Besola was careful as to who came into the home.

d. The search warrant affidavit also stated that on April 21, 2009, the day on which the search warrant was issued, Westfall told Deputy Tjossem that Swenson had obtained morphine from